1963

# Zion's First National Bank v. Spencer C. Taylor et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

This is an action in eminent domain, the defendants representing three different interests and all three interests were tried simultaneously before the court and jury at one sitting.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The three cases were tried before a jury. There were three special verdicts rendered by the jury. Each verdict was composed of two parts: (1) the value of the land taken and, (2) severance damages. On two of these verdicts the severance damages awarded were less than the amounts testified to by any witness. The defendants moved for a new trial. The court, on motion of the plaintiff, by the theory of additur, attempted to add sufficient monies to the severance damage in each of the two cases so as to bring the severance damage to the minimum testimony of any witness at said hearing, the result being that the judgment entered in the one case was based upon the jury's verdict, but, the amended judgment entered in the other two cases was based upon the court's verdict.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants seek an order from this court vacating the judgments in all three cases and directing that a new trial be granted.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Porcupine Reservoir Company, a corporation, being a private corporation of the state of Utah, sought



to condemn certain lands belonging to the defendants in Cache County. A fee simple title was sought in and to the reservoir area and an easement was sought where the diverting works would be situated. The defendants, through their counsel, requested separate trials and said request was denied by the court. The jury was impanelled to hear all three cases simultaneously. The property owners and two expert witnesses, Thomas Baum and Haven Barlow, testified as to value and damages for the defendants. Two witnesses, Alden Adams and Marcellus Palmer, testified as to damages and value for the plaintiff. The testimony of all witnesses as to value and damages, by stipulation of counsel, was reduced to exhibits and received in evidence. The cases took five (5) days to try with exhibits numbering one (1) to sixty-three (63) inclusive being offered. The jury retired for its deliberations and in less than two hours returned its verdict, but, in two of the three cases, brought in a verdict on severance damages for less than that testified to by any witness.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

#### THAT THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANTS' REQUEST FOR SEPARATE TRIALS.

The record is silent as to the official request made that separate trials be granted but on (R. 236) we

have the decision of the court in regard to the same, which is:

“The court: It would be the same thing as to Mr. Keller. We’re trying them all together now. No such thing as separate lawsuits. We simply haven’t got the time to try them separately.”

This is the answer given by the court to defendants’ request, which evidently was made off the record, that defendants have the matters tried separately. The court, as you see, absolutely foreclosed the defendants from separate trials. When the court did so, this situation resulted: There were three separate parties with their separate interests in this lawsuit, with problems arising in different directions; a jury of lay people are brought in who are forced off from their jobs and in some cases are resentful, and then attempt to feed into them the separate problems of each of the defendants, who are having their property taken away from them against their will; you attempt to explain and picture to them, the damages that will accrue to each of the defendants, put on an expert witness who talks about one case for a few minutes, changes over and talks about another and then changes over and talks about the third and then you come back and cross examine him on each of these cases on which he has given testimony. It becomes mentally impossible for the jury to grasp, separate and comprehend the various problems presented to them. You couple the foregoing with the objections that counsel from both sides make from time to time, the rulings either for or against the objections made.

Then add to that the problem of the total amount of money and damages. This all becomes cumulative and staggering in the minds of the jury. The rights of each individual are lost track of and in their place is the cumulative figure which the jury instinctively holds against each individual.

Then you add and create another problem in this: The Kellers' year around operation is extensive and must be shown and explained to the jury. It is natural for the jury to believe that the Kellers are extremely well-to-do because of their vast holdings. Defendants strongly feel in this case that the jury made up their minds to see that the amount awarded to the Kellers was held to a minimum, and in their desire to carry this out they even lowered it below the minimum.

I ask this question: How much of that demonstrated resentment, when three cases are being tried before the jury, might be carried over into the other cases? Then you are also faced with this: If you have an indifferent jury you are stuck with them for all three cases. The jury certainly proved its indifference when, with sixty-three (63) exhibits and five (5) days of testimony, it could sit down and determine the rights of three different litigants in less than two (2) hours. The only defendant who was awarded more severance damages than the minimum testimony was a widow lady and her son; the other two defendants were completely disregarded. It is the contention of the defendants that to force three defendants into one trial in an eminent

domain proceeding because the court adopts the attitude, "we simply haven't got the time to try them separately" is a far cry from justice. Defendants submit that to try three lawsuits of this nature simultaneously is not equitable, is not fair and is unjudicious. The defendants further contend that to be forced to try their cases in this manner is an abuse of discretion by the trial court.

## POINT II

THAT THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL; BASED ON INADEQUATE DAMAGES <sup>being</sup> AWARDED <sup>since the damages are</sup> IN TWO OF THE THREE CASES WHICH WERE TRIED SIMULTANEOUSLY, WERE LESS THAN THE TESTIMONY OF ANY WITNESS.

We have tabulated below the testimony of each and every witness, insofar as the value of the land taken, severance damage and total, and have listed the jury verdict under each of the titles of the defendants so that the court can see at a glance the result of the five (5) days' testimony and the jury verdict, and it is as follows:

## Defendant Keller Corporation

	Land Taken	Severance	Total
Ex #4 Owner's testimony			
(def)	\$14,670.00	\$18,000.00	\$32,670.00
Ex #35a Haven Barlow			
(def)	11,900.00	8,250.00	20,150.00
Ex #38 Thomas Baum			
(def)	11,194.00	10,240.00	21,434.00
Ex #43a, 43b Alden Adams			
(pl)	2,195.00	3,884.20	6,080.00
Ex #57 Marcellus Palmer			
(pl)	2,287.50	4,855.25	7,145.00
Rec. Jury Verdict	3,663.00	3,200.00	6,863.00

## Defendant—Summers

Ex #30, 30a, 30b Owners testimony			
(def)	\$9,372.00	\$15,712.00	\$25,084.00
Ex #36, 36a, 36b Haven Barlow			
(def)	9,187.00	11,130.00	20,317.00
Ex #37 Thomas Baum			
(def)	7,706.00	14,884.00	22,317.00
Ex #44a, 44b Alden Adams			
(pl)	1,641.10	5,184.00	6,825.00
Ex #59 Marcellus Palmer			
(pl)	1,226.10	2,009.00	3,235.00
Rec. Jury Verdict	2,879.00	5,680.00	8,559.00

## Defendant—Avon Land and Livestock Company

Ex #34, 34a, 34b Haven Barlow			
(def)	\$6,814.00	\$1,732.00	\$8,546.00
Ex #39 Thomas Baum			
(def)	6,450.00	3,128.00	9,758.00
Ex #42a, 42b Alden Adams			
(pl)	2,439.40	2,000.34	4,450.00
Ex #58 Marcellus Palmer			
(pl)	1,550.90	1,732.66	3,285.00
Rec. Jury Verdict	3,678.00	1,574.00	5,252.00

The court will notice that in the tabulation of the Keller Corporation, the jury verdict for severance damages was \$3,200.00. The minimum severance damage testified to by any witness was that of Alden Adams, a witness for the plaintiff of \$3,884.20.

In the Avon Land and Livestock Company tabulation the jury verdict for severance was \$1,574.00. The minimum testimony of two people was that of Marcellus Palmer for \$1,732.66 and Haven Barlow for \$1,732.00. Mr. Adams in this case, however, testified \$2,000.34, yet he was the witness in the Keller case that was low, Mr. Palmer, in the Keller case, being nearly \$1,000.00 higher.

The defendants believe that when the jury returned a verdict contrary to the evidence and lower than the testimony of any witness, it was shown on the face of it that there was error in the form of influence of passion or prejudice, or of refusal of the jury to follow the court's instructions. In any event there was no evidence which would justify the verdict. The defendants assert, as a matter of right under such verdict, it was the court's duty to grant a new trial in all three cases. Defendants further believe that a new trial should be granted in all three cases for the reason that if the jury demonstrated in two cases, either passion or prejudice, or refusal to follow the instructions of the court that this is prima facie evidence that the same disregard of the rights of the defendants, in some degree, was carried into the other case. Inasmuch as the law, in re-

gard to Point II, and the cases which will be cited in Point III, will be applicable to both points, counsel feels it would be wise to list Point III and give the cases and text, then we will have mutual application.

### POINT III

THAT THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT ADOPTED PLAINTIFF'S THEORY OF ADDITUR, SAID ERROR BEING AS FOLLOWS:

(a) THAT IN A STATUTORY CONDEMNATION PROCEEDINGS, THE TAKING OF DEFENDANT'S PROPERTY IS PROTECTED BY THE CONSTITUTION AND STATUTES WHICH MUST BE STRICTLY COMPLIED WITH.

(b) THAT THERE IS NO STATUTORY PROVISION FOR ADDITUR IN CONDEMNATION PROCEEDINGS.

(c) THE COURT USURPED THE DEFENDANTS' CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY TRIAL BY JURY AND SUBSTITUTED A NEW VERDICT BY THE COURT WITH THE AID, CONSENT AND REQUEST OF THE PLAINTIFF ONLY.

The Statutes involved are as follows: Article 1, Section 22 of the Constitution of the State of Utah reads:

*“Sec. 22. Private property for public use: Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation.”*

Section 78-34-10, Utah Code Annotated 1953, reads:

*“Sec. 78-34-10, Compensation and damages—How assessed.—*The court, jury or referee must hear such legal evidence as may be offered by any of the parties to the proceedings, and thereupon must ascertain and assess:

(1) The value of the property sought to be condemned and all improvements thereon appertaining to the realty, and of each and every separate estate or interest therein; and if it consists of different parcels, the value of each parcel and of each estate or interest therein shall be separately assessed.

(2) If the property sought to be condemned constitutes only a part of a larger parcel, the damages which will accrue to the portion not sought to be condemned by reason of its severance from the portion sought to be condemned and the construction of the improvement in the manner proposed by the plaintiff.

(3) .....

(4) .....

(5) As far as practicable compensation must be assessed for each source of damages separately.”

Article 1, Section 10 of the Constitution of Utah reads as follows:

*“Sec. 10, Trial by jury: In capital cases the right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate. In*



courts of general jurisdiction, except in capital cases, a jury shall consist of eight jurors. In courts of inferior jurisdiction a jury shall consist of four jurors. In criminal cases the verdict shall be unanimous. In civil cases three-fourth of the jurors may find a verdict. A jury in civil cases shall be waived unless demanded."

In the case before the court a demand for a jury was made and the jury fee paid, and as a consequence the defendants were entitled to their trial by jury. Rule 38 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure reads:

"(a) *Right Preserved.* The right of trial by jury as declared by the Constitution or as given by statute shall be preserved to the parties."

Rule 39 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure reads:

"(a) *By Jury.* When trial by jury has been demanded as provided in Rule 38, the action shall be designated upon the register of actions as a jury action. . . ."

Counsel has searched in vain, but there is no statute providing for additur by the court to the jury verdict. We do have the constitutional provision that private property shall not be taken, however, without just compensation. We do have the provision that we have a right to trial by jury. We do have a rule that says a jury trial shall be preserved. Eminent domain proceedings, such as we have in the case before the court are strictly statutory in nature and do not exist as a common law action. That is to say, without a statutory enactment there would be no such action as eminent domain. Consequently, we have this query: If the jury's

verdict is less than the testimony of any witness, and the court so recognizes it, has the court the right in the State of Utah to say, the jury made a mistake in its verdict, but I have the right to substitute my theory of additur? Does the court, by such a theory, take away the defendants' right to trial by jury? Can it say, whether you like it or not, you'll now have a trial by the court? There is no case in the State of Utah exactly in point, certainly not the case of *Boden vs. Suhrmann*, 327 P2d 826, which involved a common law action and not a proceeding in eminent domain. There are, however, a great number of cases in other states, which do have application. First, I want to quote from Nichols on Eminent Domain, Third Edition, Vol. 5, page 101:

“Where, however, the amount of the award is not supported by any evidence and is, in fact, contrary to the evidence adduced at the trial, the appellate court may set aside the award even though the award is based in part on a view of the premises by the triers of the facts.” (See numerous cases cited).

Continuing on page 104 of the same volume, we have:

“ . . . If outside the range of the testimony such awards have generally been set aside.” See numerous cases cited).

Further quoting from page 107 under the title, “Increase or reduction of award,” we have the following:

“ . . . Generally, however, *in the absence of express statutory authority the trial court is without power to increase or diminish the amount of the ward as determined by the jury or by com-*

*missioners.* In condemnation proceedings the trial judge has not the power of control over the proceedings and verdicts possessed by the trial judge in common-law actions. He may, of course, confirm or set aside the award reported to him, but he cannot give binding instructions, and the jury is the judge of both law and facts. Under our constitutional provisions if the judge reaches the conclusion that the award is excessive, he may not himself reduce the award and as so reduced confirm it. Under such circumstances he should refuse to confirm, and order a new trial. It is the constitutional right of an owner in most jurisdictions not only to receive just compensation for the property taken from him, but also to have the amount of that compensation awarded to him by a jury. If the court changes the amount of the verdict in the absence and without the consent of the jury, or the parties, there is a new verdict rendered, not by a jury, but by a court acting without a jury. *This is violative of the rights of the owner because, in the exercise of the power of eminent domain, which takes the property of an owner from him without his consent, the limitations prescribed by the constitution should be strictly observed, and the statutes passed in pursuance thereof should be strictly complied with.* The fact that the verdict does not conform to the evidence, or is rendered through mistake and inadvertence, is a cause for setting aside the verdict, or, if not discovered until after judgment is entered, is a cause for setting aside both the verdict and judgment, but it does not give the court power to correct the verdict. The verdict is the jury's not the court's, and the power of the court in such cases is limited to seeing that the jury return a verdict correct in form and

substance. It may not, after the verdict has been returned and the jury discharged, change it, over the objections of either of the parties, in matters of substance." (See the great number of cases cited.) (*Italics ours*).

Quoting again on page 110 of the same volume under the heading "Inadequacy or Excessiveness of Award," we have:

"As heretofore pointed out, where the report of the commissioners or the verdict of the jury is either inadequate or excessive, although the court is generally without power to modify the report or verdict, it may set such report or verdict aside." (See numerous cases cited).

In the case of *City of Grand Rapids vs. Coit*, 113 NW 362, this is an action in Eminent Domain for the condemnation of certain land for a street. It is a case exactly in point, for the jury brought in a verdict for less than the testimony of any witness, and the court applied the theory of additur to bring the verdict within the testimony, and refused to grant a new trial. The appellate court, in reversing the lower said, said on page 363, righthand column:

" . . . The lowest value placed by a witness upon the land known as Parcel #1 was \$335.00; the highest \$1,195.30. The compensation awarded by the jury was \$304.15. See *Grand Rapids vs. Perkins*, 78 Michigan 93, 43 NW 1037. This award the petitioner exercising the option given it by the court, consented to increase to the sum of \$339.15. The theory of the attack upon verdicts claimed to be excessive or inadequate is

that they are not supported by evidence. The remedy is a new trial. The practice of refusing a new trial if the owner of the verdict will remit the recovery to an amount which the evidence, in the judgment of the trial court, will support, is one of long standing. In cases where the evidence affords a standard or rule for calculating the sum which should be awarded, the practice, whether the verdict is excessive or is inadequate, is open to no objection. Where the award depends upon conflicting testimony, and especially where the allowance to be made rests, of necessity, in the sound judgment of the jury, this asserted and admitted power of the courts is sparingly exercised. In any case, the one in whose favor the verdict is rendered is given the option to remit or submit the issue to another jury. The general rule is that, when a trial court determines that the damages, awarded upon conflicting evidence, are inadequate, a new trial will be granted, and that the court cannot render judgment for an amount greater than the verdict; nor can a new trial be refused on condition that the defendant pay a sum fixed by the court. 14 Ency. Pl & Pr 755; Lorf v. City of Detroit, 145 Mich. 265, 108 N.W. 661. In condemnation proceedings, the petitioner is not, as to the compensation to be awarded, a plaintiff. The court was in error in refusing a new trial."

In the matter of State v. Hammerquist, 293 N.W. 539, we have a case of a default judgment being entered against the party, thereafter, a guardian was appointed of the party and they petitioned that the judgment be set aside. The court then took it upon himself to increase the verdict and made an order that unless the

State paid the amount within sixty days that the default judgment would be set aside and the matter be tried. At the end of sixty (60) days the payment had not been made but the State sought an additional order granting an additional thirty (30) days. From this order an appeal was made. The court said on page 541, righthand column, as follows:

“The order entered below operates to require the defendants to accept a compensation fixed by the court. This is an action involving a jury question a court is without authority to increase the verdict and thus substitute its finding for that of the jury, has been settled by this court. *Walters v. Gilham et ux.*, 52 S.D. 82, 216 N.W. 854. Our conclusion that the learned trial court erred in that respect in this proceeding might well rest upon that holding and the constitutional safeguard of the trial by jury from which it springs. Article VI, Section 6, Constitution of South Dakota. However, our constitution further provides that ‘Private property shall not be taken for public use, or damaged, without just compensation as determined by a jury.’ Article VI, Section 13. The plain command of this specific limitation upon the exercise of the power of eminent domain concludes the issue. Such is the current of authority. In *re Owen and Memorial Parks in City of Detroit*, 244 Mich. 377, 221 N.W. 279, 61 A.L.R. 190, 194, 18 Am. Jur. 1108.”

In the case of *Showalter v. State*, 63 P2d 189, we have an Arizona case where the amount of the jury verdict was less than that testified to by plaintiff’s own wit-

nesses. The court said on page 190, righthand column, as follows:

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