1963

Porcupine Reservoir Co. v. Lloyd W. Keller Corporation et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

There is no record whatever to support the appellants' contention that the trial court abused its discretion in conducting the trial as it did. The argument in the appellants' brief on this point, pp 3-6, contains no reference to the record, except to R. 236, which is the statement of the court quoted above, “We're trying them all together now . . . ”

There being no proof of objection in the trial court nor proof of abuse of discretion, the appellants must fail on this point.

II

THE ORDER DENYING A NEW TRIAL MUST BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE THERE IS NO EVIDENCE BEFORE THE COURT OF ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

The appellants filed a motion for a new trial upon the grounds of (1) irregularity in the proceedings, (2) inadequate damages and (3) insufficiency of the evidence to justify the verdict. The motion was argued orally and then each side submitted a written memorandum. (R. 92-96 and 97-103). The court then rendered a memorandum decision as follows:

"The order may be that unless the plaintiff, within ten days from today, consents that the separate verdicts as to Keller and Avon may be increased by \$664.00 and by \$158.00 respectively, the motion for a new trial may be granted. So, if the consent is filed the Clerk will make, compute, sign, and file an amended judgment. If the consent be not filed, then the new trial may be deemed granted and the case placed on the trial calendar.

"As to the merits of the motion, the court feels to follow the majority of the Supreme Court of Utah in the Boden case, wherein Mr. Justice Crockett, with the concurrence of Justices Wade

and McDonough, with the late Justice Worthen specially concurring, asserted and determined that trial courts have the inherent power to permit additur. This court has carefully read the dissenting opinion of Mr. Henry Henroid in that case and has only one further observation to make. Judge Henroid speaks of grossly inadequate verdicts, but the verdict in this case was not grossly inadequate but was only slightly inadequate. So, feeling that it has the inherent power to make the order, and holding that the jury in the First District must render verdicts not higher than the evidence justifies and not lower (in condemnation cases) than the lowest valuation placed by any witness on either side, the order may be in accordance with the language previously used." (R. 104).

The appellants are seeking the reversal of the order denying the motion for a new trial based upon a tabulation of the testimony of witnesses, lay and expert, who testified as to value. It is stated on page 8 of appellants' brief as follows:

"The defendants believe that when the jury returned a verdict contrary to the evidence and lower than the testimony of any witness, it was shown on the face of it that there was error in the form of influence of passion or prejudice, or of refusal of the jury to follow the court's instructions. In any event there was no evidence which would justify the verdict . . . "

The tabulation shows that in *each case the verdict was higher than* the testimony of one or more expert witness:

Keller Corporation

Witness Alden Adams—\$6080.00 — Verdict
\$6863.00

Summers

Witness Alden Adams—\$6825.00—Verdict
\$8559.00

Avon Land and Livestock Co.

Witness Alden Adams—\$4450.00; Palmer \$3285.00
—Verdict \$5252.00

During the five-day trial there was much evidence adduced on damages which does not appear on the tabulations including evidence on topography, vegetation, water holes, grazing practices and comparable sales. Also, the court and jury inspected the premises. The trial court and jury had the advantage of all this evidence.

The appellants point out that in the Keller and Avon cases the answer of the jury on severance was slightly less than the testimony of any witness. The reason for this might be apparent had all of the evidence been before the court. Several ranchers in the area testified on matters bearing on the question of severance. Neither the jury nor the trial court on motion for new trial was required to ignore the abundance of evidence which related to severance nor were they bound to consider only expert testimony. In the case of Weber Basin Water Conservancy District v. Nelson, 11 Utah 2d 253, 358 P. 2d 81, this court said:

“The jury was entitled to believe or disbelieve in part or in whole the testimony of the two appraisers.”

See also *United States v. 2049 Acres of Land*, 49 Fed. Supp. 20, at page 23:

“While a jury has no right arbitrarily to ignore or discredit the testimony of unimpeached witnesses *so far as they testify to facts*, and that a wilful disregard of such testimony will be ground for a new trial, no such obligation attaches to *witnesses who testify* merely to their opinions; the jury may deal with it as they please, giving it credence or not as their own experience or general knowledge of the subject may dictate. . . . The jury even if such testimony be uncontradicted, may exercise their independent judgment.” (Citing Supreme Court of the United States cases.) “The motion for new trial is overruled.”

In *Murray v. United States*, (U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia), 130 F. 2d 442, the appellate court considered a case in which the verdict was lower than the appraisal of any expert. We quote from the opinion:

“1. The ground on which it is argued that the verdict was inadequate is that one of the parcels (Murray’s) was valued by the jury at considerably less than its recent purchase price, and that both parcels were valued by the jury at \$4500, which was some \$900 less than the appraisal of any expert witness. But the jury were permitted to view the property and form an opinion of their own as to its value. They also considered evidence that similar unimproved property sold

for as little as \$500 an acre and as much as \$3,000 an acre. The area in question contains a little more than two acres, making the valuation of the jury approximately \$2,000 an acre.

"[1, 2] In the light of this additional evidence, they were not bound by the testimony of the experts. We have said more than once before that it is the province of the jury to weigh the evidence after seeing and hearing all the witnesses and viewing the premises, and when they reach a valuation from the evidence which the trial court confirms, it is not for us to say that it is so inadequate that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial. *Willis v. United States*, 69 App. D.C. 129, 99 F.2d 362; *Johnson & Wimsatt v. Hazen*, 69 App. D.C. 151, 99 F.2d 384. To the same effect are *Columbia Heights Realty Co. v. Rudolph*, 217 U.S. 547, 560, 30 S.Ct. 531, 54 L.Ed. 877, 19 Ann. Cas. 854, and *Barnes v. South Carolina P.S. Authority*, 120 F.2d 439."

It is clear that the contention that the verdict was so inadequate that it showed passion and prejudice in all three cases is not supported even by the small part of the evidence before this court.

Furthermore, where all the evidence is not before the appellate court every presumption will be indulged in favor of the judgment. The rule is stated as follows:

"Thus it is a general rule, where the evidence is not preserved in the record that every presumption will be indulged in favor of the judgment or award on questions of fact. . . . So in the absence of any contrary showing in the record, it will be

presumed that the commissioners or jurors possessed the necessary qualifications; that they were duly sworn; that they followed instructions and applied correct rules as to the damages, taking into account all proper items of damage and excluding those not authorized by the pleadings and evidence, that they acted in good faith according to their actual judgment; that they considered all competent evidence, and none other; and that they based their conclusion, in part at least, on an inspection of the premises, or on testimony of value alone, accordingly as they did or did not view the premises . . . ” 30 C.J.S. pp. 49, 50.

Other applicable rules are as follows:

“ . . . The verdict or findings in condemnation proceedings, although subject to appellate review, will not be disturbed unless clearly or manifestly erroneous. The questions of value and of damages are brought before the court on appeal from the award, but the court is reluctant to interfere with the award on such questions; it accords great weight and respect to the verdict or findings of the jury on these questions; it will not substitute its judgment, opinion, or conclusion for that of the jury, commissioners, or trial court as to the amount of damages to be awarded; it will not disturb the award because it seems to the appellate court or because such court thinks or is of the opinion, that the amount is inadequate, excessive, or extravagant, unless the amount is clearly, manifestly or obviously excessive or inadequate, or is grossly excessive or inadequate or is excessive or inadequate as to be unconscionable, or as to amount to a denial of justice, or carry with it the improbability of its

correctness, or indicate that the award was made on an erroneous principle or was the result of passion, prejudice, partiality, corruption, arbitrary action, or the like." 30 C.J.S. pp. 51, 52.

An excellent statement of the rule respecting the review of jury verdicts and orders denying motions for a new trial was made by this court in the case of *Reynolds v. W. W. Clyde & Co.*, 5 Utah 2d 151, 298 P.2d 530:

"There were but two eyewitnesses to the incident, the plaintiff and the defendant flagman. Their testimony was diametrically opposed, and there was more than ample evidence which, if believed by the jury, would support its verdict. We sustain such verdict as a matter of course, as many times we have said we must do. Only those verdict that appeal to be unsupported by any credible evidence that would justify them in the minds of reasonable men, do we disturb. That is the jury system . . . "

" . . . We consider and hold that the trial court did not err, as plaintiff contends, in denying the motion for a new trial, since, in cases where there is substantial evidence which, if believed, will support the jury's verdict, the court may exercise its discretion in sustaining the verdict, and we, having no discretion in such event, must sustain both."

In the instant case, there being no evidence before this court except the tabulation of expert testimony, it cannot be said that there was no evidence before the jury to sustain its verdict, nor can it be said that the trial court abused its discretion in denying the motion for a new trial.

III

ADDITUR WAS PROPER AND IN GRANTING ADDITUR THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION.

As indicated above we contend that this court must affirm, because of the failure of the appellants (1) to include in the record on appeal all of the evidence before the court and jury, (2) to show that there was no competent evidence to support the verdict, and (3) to prove that the trial court abused its discretion in denying motion for a new trial. We believe that this disposition must be made of the case whether or not additur was proper.

Any argument over additur would necessarily turn on the question of evidence to support the verdict and the court's order denying a new trial. The evidence is not before this court and the ruling of trial court must stand.

The trial court granted additur in two of the three cases requiring the plaintiff to pay Keller Corporation \$664.00 and requiring payment of \$158.00 to Avon Land and Livestock Co. In the Summers case there was no additur and there was no claim that the verdict was not supported by the tabulation of evidence before this court on appeal.

The appellants contend that additur cannot be granted in a condemnation case because there is no statutory provision for additur, and that granting

additur violated the appellants' right to have the issues of value and damages tried by a jury.

There is no special constitutional provision in Utah granting a right of trial by jury in condemnation cases. Article I, Section 22 of the Constitution of Utah provides:

“Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation.”

Nor is there a statutory right to a trial of the issues of compensation and damages in a condemnation case which is any different than the right to a trial by jury in any other kind of civil case. Section 78-34-10 provides for a trial of such cases by “the court, jury or referee.” Under Rule 38 of Rules of Civil Procedure, “any party may demand a trial of any issue triable of right by a jury by paying the statutory jury fee . . .”

Insofar as the right of trial by jury is concerned there is no distinction between a condemnation case and any other case, whether it be a statutory or a common law case. The appellants' entire argument that the court has no power or authority to grant additur in this case is based upon the assumption that under our Utah Constitution and statutes there is difference between the two types of cases. In discussing the right to a trial by jury the appellants say on pages 11 and 12 of their brief:

“ . . . That is to say, without a statutory enactment there would be no such action as eminent domain. Consequently, we have this query: If the jury's verdict is less than the testimony

of any witness, and the court so recognizes it, has the court the right in the State of Utah to say, the jury made a mistake in its verdict, but I have the right to substitute my theory of additur? Does the court, by such a theory, take away the defendants' right to trial by jury? Can it say, whether you like it or not, you'll now have a trial by the court? There is no case in the State of Utah exactly in point, certainly not the case of *Boden vs. Suhrmann*, 327 P. 2d 826, which involved a common law action and not a proceeding in eminent domain. There are, however, a great number of cases in other states which do have application . . . ”

There being no distinction in this regard between statutory and common law actions, the case of *Boden v. Suhrmann*, 8 Utah 2d 42, 327 P.2d 826, is controlling. This Court, after considering the same arguments as are made by the appellants in the instant case, held:

“ . . . There is implicit within the authority of the court to grant a new trial on the statutory ground of ‘excessive or inadequate damages * * *’ the power to order a new trial conditionally: that is, to order that a new trial be granted unless the party adversely affected by the order agrees to a remittitur or an additur of the damages to an amount within proper limits as viewed by the court. A motion for a new trial based on such grounds invokes the exercise of such prerogative of the trial court; and likewise of this court on appeal.”

In view of the fact that the trial court had authority to grant additur the only question remaining is whether the denial of the motion for a new trial upon the pay-

ments of \$158.00 in the Avon case and \$664.00 in the Keller case constituted an abuse of discretion. In the absence of the record of all of the evidence bearing on value and damages, the appellants have not shown and, indeed, cannot show that the verdicts in the two cases as increased by the court were "unsupported by credible evidence," within the rule of *Reynolds v. W. W. Clyde & Co.*, supra, or that there was abuse of discretion by trial judge who had all of the evidence before him when he ruled on the motion for a new trial.

IV

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUSPENDING INTEREST.

The appellants contend that the trial court erred in suspending interest on the award as a condition to granting a continuance of the trial. The order complained of was made on stipulation of counsel and can not be assailed on appeal. On pages 239 and 240 of the Transcript of Proceedings before Trial appears the following:

"THE COURT: Now I will rule on the evidence, assuming that I'm still in the case as of that time, based on what authorities you dig out. So what do we do now? We continue the partition case, suspend—

MR. SKEEN: Suspend the interest.

MR. MANN: Let's have an understanding on the interest. The interest will be suspended, and

let's get it in the record, from March fifth to May first.

THE COURT: That's all right.

MR. SKEEN: Yes.

MR. MANN: Because that's the only difference that you can be out anything."

In the minute order for March 11, 1963, reproduced in the Record on page 119, appears the following:

"The above entitled matter came on for hearing on motions and further pre-trial this day. E. J. Skeen Esq., appears as counsel for the plaintiff and Walter Mann Esq. appearing as counsel for the defendants.

"Certain stipulations are made by counsel. It is stipulated that the matter be tried on May 1, 1963 at 10 o'clock A.M. Defendant agreeing to waive all interest accrued from March 4 to date of trial."

The trial was postponed pursuant to stipulation, the case was tried and if the appellants ever did have a right to complain, it was waived. Furthermore, there is no appeal from this order. See the notice of appeal. (R. 110).

CONCLUSIONS

Summers Property

Only two points relied upon by the appellants relate to this property, (1) the alleged refusal of the court to try the cases separately, and (2) the suspension of interest. The plaintiffs have no record showing a

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